Review

Diagnosis and therapy of food allergy

Jesús F. Crespo¹, John M. James² and Julia Rodriguez¹

¹Servicio de Alergia, Hospital Universitario 12 de Octubre, Madrid, Spain ²Colorado Allergy and Asthma Centers, Fort Collins, CO, USA

According to the recently revised nomenclature for allergy [1] the term "Food Hypersensitivity" is proposed to define a reaction on food exposure causing objectively reproducible symptoms or signs at a dose tolerated by normal subjects. Those reactions to food in which immunologic mechanisms are demonstrated comprise the term "Food Allergy". Immunologic reactions to food in which an immunoglobulin E (IgE)-mediated mechanism is established are defined as IgE-mediated food allergy. This review focuses on IgE-mediated allergic reactions to foods.

Keywords: Double-blind placebo-controlled / Elimination diet food allergy / Food challenge / Immunoglobulin E / Oral challenges / Review

Received: May 24, 2004; revised: July 21, 2004; accepted: July 23, 2004

Contents

1	Diagnostic assessment	347
1.1	History and physical examination	347
1.2	Diagnostic tests for IgE	348
1.2.1	Skin testing	348
	Food-specific IgE antibodies	349
1.2.3	Optimal performance of diagnostic tests for IgE for	
	clinical food allergy	349
1.3	Oral food challenges	350
2	Managing food allergy	351
3	New therapies for food allergy	352
4	Opportunities and challenges	353
5	References	354

1 Diagnostic assessment

The aim of the diagnosis of food allergy is to objectively establish a causal relationship between food ingestion and the clinical symptoms reported by the patient and to identify the immune mechanism of the reaction. As stated by consensus and guidelines [2–4], the diagnostic evaluation of reported adverse reactions to food should include a

Correspondence: Dr. Jesús F. Crespo, Servicio de Alergia. Hospital Universitario 12 de Octubre, Av. de Córdoba s/n, E-28041 Madrid, Spain

E-mail: jfernandezc.hdoc@salud.madrid. org

Fax: +39-91-3908261

Abbreviations: DBPCFC, double-blind, placebo-controlled food challenge; IgE, immunoglobulin E; OAS, oral allergy syndrome; oFC, open food challenge; SBFC, single blind food challenge; SPT, skin prick test

detailed clinical history and physical examination, diagnostic tests for immunoglobulin E (IgE), elimination diets, and oral food challenges.

1.1 History and physical examination

The clinical history should include an accurate description of the adverse food event in order to determine precisely its clinical features and it should provide sufficient information that can be used in the design of a diagnostic oral challenge procedure, which, if positive, reproduces the reported reaction. The main issues of the food reaction to include in the clinical history comprise a description of the specific symptoms, the timing of the reaction, and food suspected of causing the reaction. Specific questions should address the food suspected of provoking the reaction, the amount and the food processing procedure, such as boiled or dry roasted, as the oral challenge should be designed employing the implicated food in the same way as reported by the patient [5, 6]. Symptoms produced by allergic reactions to foods may include, alone or in combination, gastrointestinal manifestations with oropharyngeal pruritus and/or local angioedema, acute gastric and abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. Skin symptoms are commonly pruritus, urticaria, angioedema, and worsening of atopic dermatitis. Airway symptoms may include rhinitis and/or asthma. Cardiovascular manifestations such as hypotension and anaphylactic shock may take place during a reaction. If one or more of these symptoms is present, information should be obtained regarding the time relationship and the reprodu348 J. F. Crespo *et al.* Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2004, *48*, 347 – 355

cibility of the symptom with regard to the consumption of the suspected food and whether any other circumstances were involved. Associated factors, e.g., ingestion of medications, such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), and exercise should also be identified [7]. It is worthy to ask about his/her history of other atopic diseases, such as asthma and atopic dermatitis, both of which are risk factors for food allergy [8, 9]. A comprehensive medical history should be obtained in patients suspected of having food allergy-induced respiratory tract symptoms or anaphylaxis [10]. The history should include questions about the timing of the reaction in relation to food ingestion, the minimum quantity of food required to cause symptoms, specific upper and lower respiratory signs and symptoms, and the reproducibility of the symptoms. A family history positive for allergy and/or asthma can be a useful historical point. When there is a history of an unexplained sudden asthma exacerbation, details about preceding food ingestion should be elicited. A history of a severe or anaphylactic reaction following the ingestion of a food may be sufficient to indicate a causal relationship. Finally, documentation of the specific treatment received and its response should be documented.

Diet diaries can be a useful supplement to a medical history, especially in chronic disorders. Moreover, elimination diets, which are typically implemented for 7–14 days, can be used both for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. Their success depends on identifying the correct allergen and completely eliminating it in all forms from the diet. All efforts should be made to prevent complications from unnecessary dietary restrictions such as poor weight gain and failure to thrive [11].

In evaluating patients with suspected allergic reactions that may be induced by food allergy, the physical examination is mandatory. Helpful findings include the assessment of overall nutritional status, growth parameters, and any signs of allergic disease, especially atopic dermatitis. Moreover, this examination will help rule-out other conditions that may mimic food allergy [12]. Attention should be directed toward detecting the presence of atopic features, particularly dermatitis, asthma, and rhinitis [13]. If the patient has asthma, an objective evaluation of airway obstruction prior to an oral challenge is mandatory. No oral challenges should be carried out with a FEV1 lower than 80% of predicted because of the risk of severe asthma if the challenge is positive [14].

1.2 Diagnostic tests for IgE

When an IgE-mediated allergic reaction to food is suspected, skin testing and *in vitro* tests are useful in establishing if the patient possesses IgE antibodies to specific foods.

These tests indicated the presence of an immune IgE-mediated response, but they do not establish *per se* the diagnosis of clinical allergy to food. Several studies using the double-blind, placebo-controlled, food challenges (DBPCFCs) to establish the diagnosis of clinical allergy revealed that only 40% of medical histories of food adverse reactions can be verified [15–18].

1.2.1 Skin testing

Percutaneous skin testing remains a primary tool in the diagnosis of food allergy [10]. While the patient is off antihistamines for an appropriate length of time, it is performed with an appropriate skin testing device (e.g., lancet) which punctures the skin through a drop of a glycerinated food extract and appropriate positive (histamine) and negative controls (saline). Skin prick tests (SPTs) are judged positive if there is a mean wheal diameter of 3 mm or greater than those induce by the negative control. These tests have a negative predictive value generally greater than 95% (assuming the disorder being evaluated is IgE-mediated), however, the test has in general a relatively low specificity (approximately 50%). The positive predictive value is only 20-50%, depending on the history. Thus, a positive skin test merely indicates allergic sensitization. Positive tests cannot be considered absolute proof of clinically relevant hypersensitivity and must be interpreted in the context of the clinical history. Negative skin test responses essentially confirm the absence of IgE-mediated allergic reactivity (negative predictive accuracy of > 95%) and are very helpful in excluding IgE-mediated food allergies [19-26]. Fruits and other foods of vegetable origin are frequently reported by young and adult patients as the cause of allergy. However, as noted early in 1942 by Tuft and Blumstein [27], commercially prepared extracts from many fruits and vegetables frequently do not induce positive skin responses in clinically sensitive patients, because of the presence of labile proteins responsible for IgE-mediated sensitivity. Dreborg and Foucard [28] introduced the prick-prick technique with fresh fruits and vegetables which improved the ability of skin testing to detect immunological IgEmediated hypersensitivity. In this procedure the skin is punctured after pricking the fresh food. In a study of 100 adults with a history of oral allergy syndrome (OAS) after ingestion of fruits and vegetables, Ortolani et al. [29] demonstrated that skin testing with the prick-prick technique was very sensitive for fruits and vegetables, such as carrot, celery, cherry, apple, tomato, orange, and peach. As observed during skin testing with commercial allergenic extracts, the accuracy of the results of the prick by prick technique with plant-derived foods to predict true clinical allergy is limited. In addition, the extensive immunologic cross-reactivity among different plant proteins implies that skin testing with different fresh fruits and vegetables may

produce a high number of positive skin responses which are not clinically relevant.

Intradermal skin tests with food extracts have an unacceptably high false-positive rate. These tests have been associated with systemic reactions and should not be used in the workup of food allergy. Finally, well-designed and medically supervised oral food challenges are critical for the confirmation of food allergy [10].

1.2.2 Food-specific IgE antibodies

In vitro tests for specific IgE (RAST) are also helpful in evaluating IgE-mediated food allergy. For example, quantitative measurements of food-specific IgE antibodies (e.g., CAP System FEIA, Pharmacia-Upjohn Diagnostics) have been shown to be very useful in predicting symptomatic IgE-mediated food allergy. These tests for specific IgE antibody can be used while the patient is taking an antihistamine and do not depend on having an area of rash-free skin for testing. The general concepts for interpretation are the same as for prick skin tests: a negative result is reliable in ruling-out an IgE-mediated reaction to a particular food and while a positive result does not absolutely prove clinical reactivity, it can be very helpful in implicating a specific food allergy. To some extent, the greater the concentration of a food-specific IgE antibody, the higher the chance of true clinical reactivity. As mentioned above with skin testing, positive tests cannot be considered absolute proof of clinically relevant hypersensitivity and must be interpreted in the context of the clinical history [19–26].

1.2.3 Optimal performance of diagnostic tests for IgE for clinical food allergy

In the last years, it has become apparent that a global assessment of the performance (e.g., receiver-operating characteristic plots) of the diagnostic tests for IgE could be useful in selecting the best cut off (optimal operating) point to differentiate actual food allergy. Sporik and colleagues [30] designed an investigation to determine the specificity of the allergen wheal diameter to help identify children who react on formal open food challenges (OFCs). Over a 9-year period, children referred to a tertiary allergy clinic for the evaluation of suspected food allergy were prospectively studied. Allergen skin prick testing to commercial extracts of cow milk, egg white, and peanut extracts was undertaken using a lancet technique. All children underwent OFSc to the relevant food(s) in a hospital clinic. Challenges were classified as positive if objective signs were seen; negative if the child could tolerate normal quantities of the food, daily, for one week; or inconclusive if none of the former criteria were met. Five hundred and fifty-five challenges were undertaken in 467 children (339 challenges to cow milk, 121 to egg, and 95 to peanut). Fifty-five percent of challenges were positive, 37% negative, and 8% inconclusive. For each food it was possible to identify a skin wheal diameter at, and above, which positive reactions occurred: egg: 7 mm; cow milk: 8 mm; peanut: 8 mm. These investigators proposed that the utilization of these measurements may reduce the need for formal food challenges in patients being assessed for allergic reactions to egg, cow milk, and peanut.

Another recent investigation compared the results of skin prick testing to in vitro measurements of specific IgE to food allergens [31]. These investigators reported SPT wheal diameters to cow milk, egg, and peanut above which infants and young children referred for investigation of suspected food allergy showed an adverse reaction on food challenge. These were termed the "100% diagnostic SPT levels". In vivo and in vitro measurements of IgE antibody levels to three common food allergens, cow milk, egg, and peanut, were compared in infants and young children with suspected food allergy, in order to reduce the need for food challenges. SPT (from 1992 to 1998) and CAP values (from 1999 to 2000) were performed in 820 children <2 years of age with suspected allergy to cow milk and/or egg and/or peanut. SPT levels previously shown to be diagnostic of challenge-proven allergy to cow's milk, egg, and peanut were used as the "100% diagnostic SPT levels" and compared with SPTs and CAP values associated with IgEmediated food allergy. Statistical analysis showed a significant difference between the "100% diagnostic SPT levels" and positive SPT in identifying patients who did not require food challenge for cow milk (P = 0.01), egg (P < 10-6) and peanut (P < 10-6), and a significant difference between the "100% diagnostic SPT levels" and positive CAP (P < 10-6) for egg and peanut but not cow milk. Overall, 23% of the food challenges were avoided by the use of the "100% diagnostic skin prick test levels". The use of these levels compared with in vitro measurement of IgE antibody to cow milk, egg, and peanut reduced the need for food challenge in young children with suspected food allergy.

Two recent studies have attempted to define the risks of clinical reactions as they relate to food-specific IgE antibody (i. e., Pharmacia Diagnostics termed the CAP-RAST FEIA that measures the antibody concentration as kU/L). In the initial study, stored sera from 196 children and adolescents (mean age 5.2 years, 60% male) with atopic dermatitis were analyzed for specific IgE antibodies to foods commonly causing allergy in children, and the results compared to blinded food challenges and "convincing" history of anaphylactic reactions [26]. When compared with the outcome of DBPCFCs, results of CAP System FEIA are generally comparable to those of SPTs in predicting symptomatic food hypersensitivity. Furthermore, by measuring the concentrations of food-specific IgE antibodies with the CAP System FEIA, it is possible to identify a subset of patients who are highly likely (>95%) to experience clinical reac350 J. F. Crespo *et al.* Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 2004, *48*, 347 – 355

tions to egg, milk, peanut, or fish. The performance characteristics of the CAP System FEIA for soy and wheat were poor. The follow-up to this study involved a prospective investigation in a patient population of children (median age = 3.8 years) with only about 60% having atopic dermatitis gave similar results [32]. Serum samples from 100 consecutive children and adolescents referred for evaluation of food allergy were analyzed for specific IgE antibodies to egg, milk, peanut, soy, wheat, and fish by using the Pharmacia CAP System FEIA. Food-specific IgE values were compared with history and the results of skin prick tests and food challenges to determine the efficacy of previously established 95% predictive decision points in identifying patients with increased probability of reacting during a specific food challenge. The diagnosis of food allergy was established by means of history or oral food challenge. On the basis of the previously established 95% predictive decision points for egg, milk, peanut, and fish allergy, greater than 95% of food allergies diagnosed in this prospective study were correctly identified by quantifying serum foodspecific IgE concentrations. Previously established 95% predictive decision points of food-specific IgE antibody concentrations for four major food allergens were effective in predicting clinical reactivity. Therefore, these two studies demonstrate that quantification of food-specific IgE is a useful test for diagnosing symptomatic allergy to egg, milk, peanut, and fish in the pediatric population and could eliminate the need to perform double-blind, placebo-controlled food challenges in a significant number of children.

It has become apparent that adjustments in interpreting these diagnostic cutoff values must be made for disease and age. Forty patients with symptomatic immediate hypersensitivity to egg who did not have atopic dermatitis were evaluated to determine if they continued to remain clinically symptomatic [33]. Individual patients had specific IgE in vitro and positive PST to egg. All patients were on an egg elimination diet. During the follow-up period, an open egg re-challenge was performed along with a determination of egg white-specific IgE by CAP System. The egg white-specific IgE values were higher in the positive challenge group than in the negative challenge group (P < 0.01, Mann-Whitney test). There was a direct proportional relationship between the levels of egg white-specific IgE and the likelihood of positive challenge. Specific IgE values above 1.20 KUA/L could be adequate grounds for delaying the followup of egg challenge. Overall, the study showed that increasing concentrations of egg-specific IgE antibody indicated a higher likelihood of clinical reactivity on re-challenge. The likelihood ratios for a positive oral challenge with egg white IgE level equal to or above 0.35, 0.70, and 1.20 kU/L were 2.2, 3.0, and 6.3, respectively.

Another example of the adjustments for age and disease that are needed in the interpretation of these values was demonstrated in a study of infants with possible acute reactions to milk but without atopic dermatitis or gastrointestinal allergy [34]. A prospective study was carried out on 170 patients < 1 year old (mean, 4.8 months) with histories suggesting immediate hypersensitivity after ingestion of cow milk formula. Prick test with cow milk and its proteins $(\alpha$ -lactalbumin, β -lactoglobulin, and casein), determination of specific IgE antibodies with the CAP system FEIA for the same allergens as for the prick test, and a challenge test according to the diagnostic protocol were performed for all of the children. A study of validity of the prick test (cutoff point, 3 mm) and CAP system by using different cutoff points in the specific IgE values for cows' milk and its proteins were also analyzed. Prevalence of immediate symptomatic hypersensitivity to CMP in this study was 44%. When both the whole milk and its principal milk proteins were used in the prick test, the negative predictive value was very high, and a negative value excluded allergy in 97% of the patients. When the different cutoff points of the specific IgE for milk were analyzed, 2.5 KU(A)/L had a positive predictive value of 90% and 5 KU(A)/L had a positive predictive value of 95%. When diagnosing immediate hypersensitivity to CMP in infants, negative skin test responses exclude allergy in most of the patients. If the prick test response is positive, specific IgE levels for cows' milk may be helpful. If these values are 2.5 KU(A)/L or greater, the challenge test should not be performed because of its high positive predictive value (90%).

Comparing results of food-specific IgE by skin prick testing and *in vitro* measurements should help to provide better predictive information regarding whether or not to subject a patient with possible food allergy to an oral food challenge. Hopefully, there will be more published data in the future regarding predictive values for other food allergens and comparisons of *in vivo* and *in vitro* measures of food-specific IgE. This type of information will be useful to the clinician in the overall decision-making process with food-allergic patients.

1.3 Oral food challenges

Before carrying out any challenges the patient should be placed on an elimination diet of the suspected food for at least two weeks. In many cases the patient is already avoiding the food at the moment of consultation, especially in the case of several acute, clear-cut episodes. If the patient reports chronic symptoms with several possible culprit foods an elimination diet is advised. If a large number of foods is suspected it is practical to give the patient a list of "safe" foods to be taken and then introduce the suspected foods one by one every week watching for the appearance of symptoms. Whether the re-introduction of the food is carried out at home or in a clinical setting depends on the

severity of symptoms; nonacute reactions and symptoms probably not due to an IgE-mediated reaction may allow adding the food at home.

When there is a clinical suspicion of an allergic reaction to a food and the test for specific IgE antibody to the food is positive, an elimination diet may be implemented to see if there is a resolution of clinical symptoms. Confirming this association, however, can be difficult in many cases. Therefore, food challenges can be a useful and reliable procedure in the diagnostic evaluation of a patient with suspected food allergy. Open or single-blind food challenges are often utilized to screen foods unlikely to provoke food-induced allergic reactions. Of the different type of oral food challenge procedures, the DBPCFC is the best method and remains the gold standard to diagnose and confirm food allergy and other adverse food reactions [35]. An excellent publication has reviewed the combined clinical experience of six centers doing food challenges [2]. These challenges should be conducted in a medical clinic or hospital setting with available personnel and equipment for treating systemic anaphylaxis.

The DBPCFC is considered the state of the art for diagnosis of actual clinical reactivity after food ingestion. With the exception of severe reactions on ingestion of an isolated food it is the only method to exclude bias from patient and physician. Other modalities of oral challenge are performed in the clinical setting, OFCs in which the patient consumes the food without masking and single-blind challenges (SBFC) in which food masking only applies to the patient. In the diagnostic algorithm proposed by the European Academy of Allergy, Asthma, and Immunology, OFC are carried out prior to blinded challenges [3]. Patients having a positive OFC undergo a subsequent DBPCFC. If the result of the blinded challenge is negative, it must be confirmed by means of an open feeding under observation to rule out the rare false negative challenge result.

The design of all oral challenges with food is determined by the facts of the clinical history. The food for challenge should be administered in the same form as previously ingested, raw or processed. The initial dose should be a fraction of the minimum quantity to produce symptoms reported in the history. Successive increasing doses should reach a cumulative quantity equivalent to a normal amount of the food consumed in everyday life. The time interval between doses should be longer than that reported by the patient in the history and enough for symptoms to develop.

OFCs are very useful for evaluating reactions to many foods with a high probability of a negative outcome. SBFCs are time-saving and may prove useful for patients with a high subjective concern about their symptoms to refute doubtful histories. Double-blind challenges are the final procedure for diagnosis. Assignation for active food (verum) or pla-

cebo doses must be randomized by personnel not related to the administration of doses to ensure proper blinding. The number of placebo and verum doses is usually the same in most protocols. Masking may be carried out employing vehicles to hide the flavor, color, and texture of the food. It is preferable to use liquid or semisolid vehicles. Masking with capsules is effective but it may be misleading and dangerous; as no contact of the food with the oral mucosa is allowed, oral symptoms are not detected and severe symptoms may appear only after a high dose has been administered. Solid vehicles, such as fish for crustacean challenges may be good maskers of flavor and texture in some cases. After a negative outcome of a DBPCFC an open administration of the food in usual amounts under observation is mandatory to exclude any concern regarding preparation of the food. Causes of final positive open feedings after a negative DBPCFC include an insufficient amount of food administered in the challenge and loss of allergenic activity of the food due to preparation of the challenge. If capsules have been employed as the vehicle to evaluate oral symptoms by DBPCFC, the lack of contact of the food with the oral cavity during the challenge may produce false-negative results. Also, subjective aversive symptoms in some patients may cause a positive final OFC.

So far there are many different challenge protocols and sometimes it is not possible to compare the results of DBPCFC carried out in different centers. A recent study has developed and validated several recipes for milk, soy, egg raw and cooked, peanut, hazelnut, and wheat for DBPCFC in children [36]. Further studies are needed to develop validated protocols for adult patients and different foods. An important issue is the threshold dose, which should be safe and also the cumulative dose which should be enough as some patients need higher doses of a food to elicit a reaction.

2 Managing food allergy

Once an objective diagnosis is established, the treatment for food allergy is to strictly avoid the ingestion of the food. Patients, parents, and personnel in care of children should have precise instructions about the identification of the food in labels, as the many different names under which a food is labeled may not be recognized by consumers. An important difficulty is the minimum quantity of the food present in food products considered to be included in the label. Recently, the European Parliament in an amendment of a previous EU food-labeling directive has established that a number of foods considered as allergenic should always be labeled as present, independently of the quantity included in food products (Table 1) [37]. It is also mandatory to list all sub-ingredients and specify the source of

Table 1. Ingredients which must be on the label, following the EU regulations

Cereals containing gluten (*i. e.*, wheat, rye, barley, oats, spelt, kamut, or their hybridized strains and products thereof)

Crustaceans and products thereof

Eggs and products thereof

Fish and products thereof

Peanuts and products thereof

Soybeans and products thereof

Milk and products thereof (including lactose)

Nuts, i. e. almond (Amygdalus communis L.), hazelnut (Corylus avellana), walnut (Juglans regia), cashew (Anacardium occidentale), pecan nut (Carya illinoiesis (Wangenh.) K. Koch), Brazil nut (Bertolletia excelsa), pistachio nut (Pistacia vera), macadamia nut and Queensland nut (Macadamia ternifolia) and products thereof

Celery and products thereof

Mustard and products thereof

Sesame seeds and products thereof

Sulfur dioxide and sulfites at concentrations of more than

10 mg/kg or 10 mg/L expressed as SO₂

ingredients previously listed as "natural flavors". Highly sensitive individuals may react to minimum traces of the food due to cross-contamination of food products elaborated in production lines where traces of allergenic food may still be present. In some countries such as the UK, Australia, New Zealand, and Canada labeling includes the term "may contain" particularly for peanut and nuts.

Even with appropriate instructions, the risk of an accidental ingestion is present in high-risk situations, with food consumption out of home such as in restaurants, buffets, fairs, and summer camps. It also can happen when a local manufacturer changes the components of a food being consumed locally [38]. In a recent study analyzing the circumstances of a series of fatal reactions to food, most of them happened to individuals who were known to have food allergy, most subjects had active asthma and most individuals did not have epinephrine available at the time of the reaction [39]. In school settings, the patient and/or the caregivers should have precise instructions for treatment in the case of an allergic reaction. All patients with previous severe reactions to a food, especially asthmatic patients should receive or self-administer epinephrine immediately and should be treated as soon as possible in an emergency department. In the case of small children, unable to self-inject, teachers or personnel in charge should be instructed in the use of epinephrine, which should always be present in first-aid kits in schools. Children allergic to food should not be excluded of any school activity, therefore the school should be provided with written information of the food implicated and written instructions on what to do in case of a reaction [40, 41].

3 New therapies for food allergy

Over the past several years, there has been a significant amount of research in the area of potential new therapies for food allergy. Conventional subcutaneous allergen immunotherapy has been attempted for peanut allergy. In a double-blind placebo-controlled trial of rush (rapidly increasing doses) peanut immunotherapy, increased tolerance to oral feeding with peanut was observed in four of six patients receiving the active immunotherapy but in none of the six control patients. The rate of serious adverse reactions, however, was unacceptably high, even during the maintenance phase of immunotherapy (39%) [42]. This important clinical investigation suggested that immunomodulation might eventually be used to induce oral tolerance in food allergic patients if the overall safety profile was improved.

Some studies have addressed the use of immunotherapy with birch pollen extracts in birch-sensitive subjects with OAS to apple with promising results [43, 44]. Attempts at hyposensitization with food have demonstrated good results in some cases, but schedules are time-consuming and the patients must consume the food regularly to maintain the tolerance [45].

Allergen-specific IgE antibodies play a central role in the pathophysiology of atopic disorders, including food allergy. IgE binds to high affinity receptors on the surface of mast cells and basophils. Cross-linking of IgE molecules on the surface of mast cells by allergen leads to release of preformed mast cells mediators (early phase of allergic reaction) as well as synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that result in late phase reaction [46]. Humanized monoclonal anti-IgE antibodies bind to the constant region (third domain of the Fc region) of the IgE molecule and prevent its binding to the receptor on mast cells and basophils. In addition, anti-IgE downregulates the expression of the high affinity receptor on mast cells and decreases basophile histamine release [47]. In clinical trials of anti-IgE for the treatment of asthma and allergic rhinitis, symptomatic improvement was observed when circulating levels of IgE antibodies were significantly reduced [48, 49]. Recently, a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial evaluated humanized monoclonal anti-IgE antibody (Tannox 901) in the treatment of peanut anaphylaxis [50]. The investigators were interested in determining if treatment with anti-IgE therapy would reduce the sensitivity of patients with peanut allergy following the ingestion of peanuts. The study included 84 adolescents and adults (12–60 years) with a history of immediate hypersensitivity following peanut ingestion. The patients had histories of urticaria, angioedema, lower respiratory symptoms and hypotension and their reactions were confirmed by DBPCFCs. In addition, they had positive skin tests to peanut, serum IgE levels between 30 and 1000 IU/ mL and no prior exposure to monoclonal antibodies. The study design included four dose cohorts of 28 patients each randomized 3:1 (Tannox 901:placebo), including 150, 300, and 450 mg of Tannox 901 or placebo. Injections were administered subcutaneously every four weeks for four doses. The primary endpoint was a change in the threshold dose of peanut that elicited symptoms during an oral food challenge 15-30 days after the last day of study drug. Tannox 901 increased the threshold sensitivity to peanut flour in a dose responsive manner. The effect was highly significant at the 450 mg dose level. The anti-IgE was well tolerated with no evidence of treatment-related systemic adverse events and no evidence of treatment-related laboratory abnormalities (e.g., complete blood counts, urinalysis, blood chemistries). Local adverse events including mild erythema, burning, and edema were noted for at least one injection in 13-14 patients in each dose cohort. Finally, there was no evidence of anti-drug antibodies. An average accidental peanut exposure is believed to be approximately one to two peanuts or less (i. e., approximately 325–650 mg of peanut). Thresholds achieved in the 300 and 450 mg dose groups, 2083 and 2805 mg, respectively (i. e., 6–8 peanuts) should provide substantial protection for most patients. Moreover, 21% and 24% of patients at these respective dose levels were able to ingest at least eight grams of peanut (i. e., 24 peanuts) before experiencing an allergic reaction. Keep in mind, this therapy has not been approved for actual clinical use on patients with peanut allergy. Further studies, including the investigation of other preparations of humanized monoclonal anti-IgE antibodies need to be conducted. If ultimately successful, anti-IgE could potentially be used for patients with any food allergy, although the protection against anaphylaxis would require continued therapy at regular time intervals indefinitely.

4 Opportunities and challenges

A better understanding of the predictive information that can be obtained from results of food-specific IgE by skin prick testing and *in vitro* measurements (*e.g.*, quantitative IgE antibody assays, recombinant food allergens) and how this information can be used in the clinical setting are excellent opportunities for the allergist [51, 52]. As demonstrated above, this data can provide better predictive information regarding whether or not to subject a patient to an oral food challenge, as well as the overall clinical decision making process with patients who have food allergy.

Recent investigations have utilized novel technologies to map allergenic epitopes of many of the major food allergens and have determined specific IgE-binding using individual patient serum samples [53–59]. Both conformational and

sequential epitopes have been identified when epitopes from major food allergens (e.g., cow milk and egg) have been evaluated. While individuals who possess IgE antibodies to sequential epitopes react to the food in any form, including well cooked or partially hydrolyzed, those with IgE antibodies primarily to conformational epitopes appear to tolerate small amounts of the food after extensive heating or partial hydrolysis because the tertiary structure of the protein is altered and the conformational epitopes are disrupted [60, 61]. Moreover, investigators have demonstrated that patients with egg and cow milk allergy who have IgE antibodies directed to sequential epitopes tend to have persistent allergy, as compared to those with IgE antibodies to conformational epitopes who tend to develop clinical tolerance to the food [62, 63]. Published data also suggest that the determination of epitope-specific binding might correlate with clinical reactivity better than quantitative IgE values to the whole protein [64]. Further utilization and development of this technology should eventually have specific clinical applications including more reliable screening methods for food allergy, identification of potential crossreactivities based on homologous epitopes, prediction of the development of oral tolerance and severity of allergic reactions to specific foods.

The allergist must remain updated in regard to new therapies on the horizon for food allergy. Hopefully, confirmatory studies will be published regarding the use of anti-IgE in this disease process. In addition, experimental therapies, such as the use of recombinant peanut proteins in murine models of anaphylaxis, may potentially lead to immunotherapy strategies for food allergy in the future. Research applications utilizing recombinant food allergens are becoming more apparent in the literature. Li and co-workers [65] have reported on the long-term immunotherapy effect of heat-killed Escherichia coli (HKE) producing engineered (i. e., mutated) Ara h1, 2, and 3 (HKE-MP 123) administered rectally in a murine model of peanut allergy. Peanut-allergic mice received either HKE-MP 123 (at three doses), HKE-containing vector alone or vehicle alone (i. e., sham-treated group). Challenges with peanut were performed at designated time points. The medium and high dose HKE-MP 123-treated mice remained protected for up to 10 weeks after treatment accompanied by a reduction of plasma histamine levels compared to the sham-treated group. IgE levels were significantly lower in all HKE-MP 123-treated groups, especially in the high dose group. Furthermore, IL-4, IL-13, IL-5, and IL-10 production by spleen cells of the high-dose HKE-MP 123-treated mice were significantly decreased and INF- γ and TGF- β production were significantly increased compared with shamtreated mice at the time of the last challenge. These investigators concluded that treatment with per rectal HKE-MP 123 induced a long-term decrease of peanut allergy, which may be secondary to specific cytokine profile production patterns. The allergist will need to be an expert on the potential therapeutic applications of these therapies in clinical practice.

5 References

- [1] Johansson, S. G., Bieber, T., Dahl, R., Friedmann, P. S., et al., Revised nomenclature for allergy for global use: Report of the Nomenclature Review Committee of the World Allergy Organization, October 2003. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2004, 113, 832–836.
- [2] Bock, S. A., Sampson, H. A., Atkins, F. M., Zeiger, R. S., et al. Double-blind placebo-controlled food challenge (DBPCFC) as an office procedure: A manual. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 1988, 82, 986–997.
- [3] Bruijnzeel-Koomen, C., Ortolani, C., Aas, K., Bindslev-Jensen, C., et al., Adverse reactions to food. European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology Subcommittee. Allergy 1995, 50, 623–635.
- [4] American Gastroenterological Association medical position statement: guidelines for the evaluation of food allergies. *Gastroenterology* 2001, *120*, 1023–10255.
- [5] Hefle, S. L., Taylor, S. L., How much food is too much? Threshold doses for allergenic foods. *Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep.* 2002, 2, 63–66.
- [6] Besler, M., Steinhart, H., Paschke, A., Stability of food allergens and allergenicity of processed foods. *J. Chromatogr. B* 2001, 756, 207–228.
- [7] Aihara, M., Miyazawa, M., Osuna, H., Tsubaki, K., et al., Food-dependent exercise-induced anaphylaxis: influence of concurrent aspirin administration on skin testing and provocation. Br. J. Dermatol. 2002, 146, 466–472.
- [8] Burks, A. W., James, J. M., Hiegel, A., Wilson, G., et al., Atopic dermatitis and food hypersensitivity reactions. J. Pediatr. 1998, 132, 132–136.
- [9] James, J. M., Respiratory manifestations of food allergy. Pediatrics 2003, 111, 1625–1630.
- [10] Sampson, H. A., Update on Food Allergy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2004, 113, 805–819.
- [11] Roesler, T. A., Barry, P. C., Bock, S. A., Factitious food allergy and failure to thrive. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 1994, 148, 1150–1155.
- [12] Bryan, F., Appendix: Diseases transmitted by foods. A classification and summary. *HHS Publication No. (CDC) 81-8237*.
- [13] Sampson, H. A., The evaluation and management of food allergy in atopic dermatitis. Clin. Dermatol. 2003, 21, 183– 192.
- [14] Workshop on experimental methodology for clinical studies of adverse reactions to foods and food additives. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 1990, 86, 421–442.
- [15] Atkins, F. M., Steinberg, S. S., Metcalfe, D. D., Evaluation of immediate adverse reactions to food in adult patients. I Correlation of demographic, laboratory, and prick skin test data with response to controlled oral food challenge. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 1985, 75, 348–355.
- [16] Bernstein, M., Day, J. H., Welsh, A., Double-blind placebocontrolled food challenge in the diagnosis of food sensitivity in the adult. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 1982, 70, 205–210.

- [17] Bock, S. A., Atkins, F. M., Patterns of food hypersensitivity during sixteen years of double-blind, placebo-controlled food challenges. J. Pediatr. 1990, 117, 561–567.
- [18] Parker, S. L., Krondl, M., Coleman, P., Foods perceived by adults as causing adverse reactions. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 1993, 93, 40–44.
- [19] Norgaard, A., Bindslev-Jensen, C., Egg and milk allergy in adults. Diagnosis and characterization. *Allergy* 1992, 47, 503-509.
- [20] Hansen, T. K., Bindslev-Jensen, C., Codfish allergy in adults. Identification and diagnosis. *Allergy* 1992, 47, 610–617.
- [21] Ortolani, C., Balmer-Weber, B. K., Hansen, K. S., Ispano, M., et al., Hazelnut allergy: a double-blind, placebo-controlled food challenge multicenter study. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2000, 105, 577–581.
- [22] Ballmer-Weber, B. K., Vieths, S., Luttkopf, D., Heushmann, P., Wuhtrich, B., Celery allergy confirmed by double-blind placebo-controlled food challenge: a clinical study in 32 subjects with a history of adverse reactions to celery root. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 2000, 106, 373–378.
- [23] Ballmer-Weber, B. K., Wuthrich, B., Wangorsch, A., Fotisch, K., et al., Carrot allergy: double-blinded, placebo-controlled food challenge and identification of allergens. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2001, 108, 301–307.
- [24] Rodriguez, J., Crespo, J. F., Burks, W., Rivas-Plata, C., et al., Randomized, double-blind, crossover challenge study in 53 subjects reporting adverse reactions to melon (Cucumis melo). J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2000, 106, 968–972.
- [25] Patil, S. P., Niphadkar, P. V., Bapat, M. M., Chickpea: a major food allergen in the Indian subcontinent and its clinical and immunochemical correlation. *Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol*. 2001, 87, 140–145.
- [26] Sampson, H. A., Ho, D. G., Relationship between food-specific IgE concentrations and the risk of positive food challenges in children and adolescents. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 1997, 100, 444–451.
- [27] Tuft, L., Blumstein, G. I., Studies in food allergy. II. Sensitization to fresh fruits: clinical end experimental observations. J. Allergy 1942, 13, 574–582.
- [28] Dreborg, S., Foucard, T., Allergy to apple, carrot and potato in children with birch pollen allergy. *Allergy* 1983, *38*, 167–172.
- [29] Ortolani, C., Ispano, M., Pastorello, E. A., Ansaloni, R., Magri, G. C., Comparison of results of skin prick tests (with fresh foods and commercial food extracts) and RAST in 100 patients with oral allergy syndrome. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol*. 1989, 83, 683–690.
- [30] Sporik, R., Hill, D. J., Hoskins, C. S., Specificity of allergen skin testing in predicting positive open food challenges to milk, egg, and peanut in children. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 2000, 30, 1540–1546.
- [31] Hill, D. J., Hosking, C. S., Reyes-Benito, L. V., Reducing the need for food allergen challenges in young children comparison of in vitro with in vivo tests. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 2001, 31, 1031–1035.
- [32] Sampson, H. A., Utility of food-specific IgE concentrations in predicting symptomatic food allergy. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 2001, *107*, 891–896.
- [33] Crespo, J. F., Pascual, C., Ferrer, A., Burks, A. W., *et al.*, Egg white-specific IgE level as a tolerance marker in the follow up of egg allergy. *Allergy Proc.* 1994, *15*, 73–76.

- [34] Garcia-Ara, C., Boyano-Martinez, T., Diaz-Pena, J. M., Martin-Muñoz, F., et al., Specific IgE levels in the diagnosis of immediate hypersensitivity to cows' milk protein in the infant. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2001, 107, 185–190.
- [35] Sampson, H. A., Food Allergy. Part 2: Diagnosis and management. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 1999, 103, 981–999.
- [36] Vlieg-Boerstra, B. J., Bijleveld, C. M., van der Heide, S., Beusekamp, B. J., et al., Development and validation of challenge materials for double-blind, placebo-controlled food challenges in children. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2004, 113, 341–346.
- [37] Directive 2003/89/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 November 2003 amending Directive 2000/13/ EC as regards indication of the ingredients present in food-stuffs. OJ L 308, 25.11.2003, p. 15–18.
- [38] Foucard, T., Malmheden, Y. I., A study of severe food reactions in Sweden is soy protein an underestimated cause of food anaphylaxis? *Allergy* 1999, *54*, 261–265.
- [39] Bock, S. A., Munoz-Furlong, A., Sampson, H. A., Fatalities due to anaphylactic reactions to foods. *J. Allergy Clin. Immu*nol. 2001, 107, 191–193.
- [40] Rhim, G. S., McMorris, M. S., School readiness for children with food allergies. *Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol.* 2001, 86, 172–176.
- [41] Moneret-Vautrin, D. A., Kanny, G., Anaphylaxis in schools and other child-care settings – the situation in France. *Allerg. Immunol. (Paris)* 1999, 31, 141–144.
- [42] Nelson, H. S., Lahr, J., Rule, R., Bock, A., Leung, D., Treatment of anaphylactic sensitivity to peanuts by immunotherapy with injections of aqueous peanut extract. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 1997, 99, 744–751.
- [43] Asero, R., Effects of birch pollen-specific immunotherapy on apple allergy in birch pollen-hypersensitive patients. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 1998, *28*, 1368–1373.
- [44] Bolhaar, S. T., Tiemessen, M. M., Zuidmeer, L., Van Leeuwen, A., et al., Efficacy of birch-pollen immunotherapy on cross-reactive food allergy confirmed by skin tests and double-blind food challenges. Clin. Exp. Allergy 2004, 34, 761 769.
- [45] Patriarca, G., Schiavino, D., Nucera, E., Schinco, G., et al., Food allergy in children: results of a standardized protocol for oral desensitization. *Hepatogastroenterology* 1998, 45, 52–58.
- [46] Fahy, J. V., Fleming, H. E., Wong, H. H., Liu, J. T., et al., The effect of an anti-IgE monoclonal antibody on the early and late phase responses to allergen inhalation in asthmatic subjects. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 1997, 155, 1828–1834.
- [47] MacGlashan, D. W. J., Bochner, B. S., Adelman, D. C., Jardieu, P. M., et al., Down-regulation of Fc(epsilon)RI expression on human basophils during in vivo treatment of atopic patients with anti-IgE antibody. J. Immunol. 1997, 158, 1438–1445.
- [48] Milgrom, H., Fick, R. B. J., Su, J. Q., Reimann, J. D., et al., Treatment of allergic asthma with monoclonal anti-IgE antibody. rhuMAb-E-25 Study Group. N. Engl. J. Med. 1999, 341, 1966–1973.
- [49] Casale, T. B., Bernstein, I. L., Busse, W. W., LaForce, C. F., et al., Use of an anti-IgE humanized monoclonal antibody in ragweed-induced allergic rhinitis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 1997, 100, 110–121.
- [50] Leung, D. Y., Sampson, H. A., Yunginger, J. W., Burks, A. W., et al., Effect of anti-IgE therapy in patients with peanut allergy. N. Eng. J. Med. 2003, 348, 986–993.

- [51] Yunginger, J. W., Ahlstedt, S., Eggleston, P. A., Homburger, H. A., et al., Quantitative IgE antibody assays in allergic diseases. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2000, 105, 1077-1084.
- [52] Ballmer-Weber, B. K., Wangorsch, A., Scheurer, S., Recombinant food allergens in the diagnosis of pollen-related food allergy. Arb. Paul Ehrlich Inst. Bundesamt Sera Impfstoffe Frankf. a. M. 2003, 192–196.
- [53] Cooke, S. K., Sampson, H. A., Allergenic properties of ovomucoid. *J. Immunol.* 1997, 159, 2026–2032.
- [54] Burks, A. W., Shin, D., Cockrell, G., Stanley, J. S., Helm, R. M., et al., Mapping and mutational analysis of the IgE-binding epitopes on Ara h 1, a legume vicilin protein and a major allergen in peanut hypersensitivity. Eur. J. Biochem. 1997, 245, 334–339.
- [55] Rabjohn, P., Helm, R., Stanley, J., West, C., et al., Molecular cloning and epitope analysis of the peanut allergen, Ara h3. J. Clin. Invest. 1999, 103, 535–542.
- [56] Chatchatee, P., Jarvinen, K. M., Bardina, L., Vila, L., et al., Identification of IgE and IgG binding epitopes on β- and κcasein in cow's milk allergic patients. Clin. Exp. Allergy 2001, 31, 1256–1262.
- [57] Chatchatee, P., Jarvinen, K. M., Bardina, L., Beyer, K., Sampson, H. A., Identificatin of IgE- and IgG-binding epitopes on alpha(s1)-casein: differences in patients with persistent and transient cow's milk allergy. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 2001, 107, 379–383.
- [58] Jarvinen, K. M., Chatchatee, P., Bardina, L., Beyer, K., Sampson, H. A., IgE and IgG binding epitopes on α-lactalbumin and β-lactoglobulin in cow's milk allergy. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* 2001, *126*, 111–118.
- [59] Ayuso, R., Reese, G., Lehrer, S. B., Plante, M., Molecular basis of arthropod cross-reactivity: IgE-binding cross-reactive epitopes of shrimp, house dust mite and cockroach tropomyosins. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* 2002, 129, 38–48.
- [60] Urisu, A., Ando, H., Morita, Y., Wada, E., et al., Allergenic activity of heated and ovomucoid-depleted egg white. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 1997, 100, 171–176.
- [61] Yamada, K., Urisu, A., Kakami, M., Koyama, H., et al., IgE-binding activity to enzyme-digested ovomucoid distinguishes between patients with contact urticaria to egg with and without overt symptoms on ingestion. Allergy 2000, 55, 565–569.
- [62] Vila, L., Beyer, K., Jarvinen, K. M., Chatchatee, P., et al., Role of conformational and linear epitopes in the achievement of tolerance in cow's milk allergy. Clin. Exp. Allergy 2001, 31, 1599–1606.
- [63] Jarvinen, K. M., Beyer, K., Vila, L., Chatchatee, P., et al., B-cell epitopes as a screening instrument for persistent cow's milk allergy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2002, 110, 293–297.
- [64] Beyer, K., Ellman-Grunther, L., Jarvinen, K. M., Wood, R. A., et al., Measurement of peptide-specific IgE as an additional tool in identifying patients with clinical reactivity to peanuts. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2003, 112, 202–208.
- [65] Li, X. M., Srivastava, K., Grishin, A., Huang, G. K., Schofield, B., et al., Persistent protective effect of heat-killed Escherichia coli producing "engineered", recombinant peanut proteins in a murine of peanut allergy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2003, 112, 159–167.